
  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 1 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

Community Services Advisory Commission 

Special Meeting 

MLK Center 

1815 Sheridan Street 

Redding, California 

February 10, 2016 

 

MINUTES 
 

Chair Deaton called the meeting to order at 4:02 p.m. 

ROLL CALL 
 

The following Commissioners were present: Bob Brennan, John Wilson, John Deaton, Erin 

Resner, and Judy Salter.  Also present were Mayor Missy McArthur, City Council Member Francie 

Sullivan, Community Services Director Kimberly Niemer, Facilities Manager Adam Whelen, 

Parks Superintendent Joseph Forseth-Deshais, Management Analyst Matt McCallum, 

Management Analyst Michele Davis, Recreation Supervisor Jennifer Moore, Recreation 

Coordinator Christina Massey, and Executive Assistant Brenna Bowers. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Redding Soccer Park Business Manager Joan Caldwell and Program Development 

Director/Tournament Director Eric Keating addressed the Commission and presented the City with 

a check for the 2015 Replacement Fund on behalf of the Redding Soccer Park Association.  The 

check was for $14,026.00 in comparison to last year’s check of approximately $2,200.00. 

CONSENT CALENDAR  
 

The minutes from meetings held November 11, 2015 and January 13, 2016, and the monthly Parks 

Maintenance, Recreation, and Tourism Activity for January 2016, were presented. 

 

Commissioner Wilson inquired about the replacement of the panels on the Sundial Bridge and if 

the shipment of new panels had arrived. Manager Whelen and Superintendent Forseth-Deshais 

confirmed the new panels were received and being replaced in phases.  Commissioner Brennan 

asked if parts of the panels could be recycled.  Director Niemer reported that the refurbished panels 

are not-as esthetically pleasing, but would be used as a last resort. 

 

Commissioner Salter requested that the Shasta Cascade Wonderland Association (SCWA) be 

asked if they have a strategic plan with measurable goals, and if it is possible to develop a metric 

to measure a return on their investments.  Director Niemer stated she would inquire and report.  

Commissioner Brennan and Commissioner Salter expressed concerns on the SCWA’s 

accountability.  Director Niemer informed the Commission that the SCWA is in contract with the 

City.  Deputy City Manager Greg Clark manages the contract, and the SCWA reports to a self-

appointed board.  The Commission can advise the City Council on tourism activities, therefore, 

the Commission is presented the monthly activity reports. 



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 2 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

 

Commissioner Resner asked if the minutes were meant to be a synopsis of the meeting, stating that 

she felt there was more discussion than what was represented.  Director Niemer confirmed that 

they are not meant to be verbatim.  The Commission is presented the Minutes before they are made 

public for the Commission’s review.  The meetings are recorded and can be reviewed to edit the 

minutes upon request. 

 

Commissioner Salter stated that she was saddened that Commissioner Deaton’s comments were 

not expressed before the vote.  The expedited timeline did not allow for proper discussion or 

planning. 

 

Commissioner Brennan stated that he was unable to attend the meeting, and did not expect the 

Commission to vote on a recommendation.  Commissioner Brennan stated that the Letter of Intent 

(LOI) was received weeks prior to the meeting and the Commission was not given enough time to 

review and discuss the materials.  Commissioner Resner stated that she believed there was a 

consensus among Commissioners that the process was rushed.  

 

Director Niemer confirmed that the LOI was received by the City Manager on, Friday, January 8th 

and was sent to her, Monday, January 9th.  The LOI was sent to the Commission the same day it 

was received by Director Niemer.  The decision was made that it was going to City Council on, 

Tuesday, January 19, 2016 with or without the Commission’s recommendation.  Staff made 

several attempts to arrange a meeting to accommodate all the Commissioners’ schedules.  Mayor 

McArthur added that the City Council is also subject to Special Meetings with 48-hour notice. 

 

Motion:     To approve the Consent Calendar. 

          (Made by Commissioner Resner, Seconded by Commissioner Wilson) 

 

AYES:         Commissioners Brennan, Wilson, Deaton, Resner, and Salter 

NOES:         None 

ABSTAIN:     None 

ABSENT:     None 

 

Motion Carries 
 

PRESENTATION BY THE FRIENDS OF ROLLING HILLS PLAYGROUND 

 

Director Niemer suggested moving the Friends of Rolling Hills Playground presentation up on the 

agenda to accommodate the presenters.  Chris Sparber with a background in engineering lives near 

the Rolling Hills Park and presented on the Friends of Rolling Hills Playground’s efforts to raise 

funds for a playground.  A copy of the presentation is attached and incorporated herein by 

reference. 

 

Commissioner Brennan asked how much money they had raised for the playground to date.  Mr. 

Sparber announced they had raised $2,000 with a goal of $23,000 and plan to raise funds through 



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 3 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

sponsorships, yard sales, bake sales, and other fundraising means.  The Parks Division will provide 

the coordination and labor for the playground installation. 

 

PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL REPORT ON RIVERLAND DRIVE OPEN SPACE AREA, 

BUD HANCOCK, PROVIDENCE INTERNATIONAL PRESIDENT 

 

Director Niemer suggested moving the Riverland Drive Open Space Area Annual Report 

presentation up on the agenda to accommodate Bud Hancock’s schedule. 

 

Providence International President Bud Hancock presented on the current progress and future 

plans for the Riverland Drive Open Space Area.  A copy of the presentation is attached and 

incorporated herein by reference.   

 

Commissioner Brennan inquired about the gate that is blocking the entrance to the property.  

Director Niemer and Mr. Hancock confirmed that the gate is temporary.  The k-rail blocking traffic 

to the River’s edge has been moved for Sierra Pacific to deliver wood chips.  Code Enforcement 

from Shasta County expressed concerns about the amount of mud on the Riverland Drive street.  

Granite rock was delivered to reduce mud.  The gate will be closed for the next several days until 

the chip has been positioned.  The visitors’ parking lot will be relocated once brush removal is 

complete and the River is accessible utilizing the trail.   

 

Commissioner Salter inquired if there is funding for riparian habitat replacement once the 

blackberries are removed.  Director Niemer stated that there is already a fair amount of native 

vegetation, but they will need to continue to spray the invasive species. 

 

Director Niemer informed the Commission that President Hancock is diligently working with 

PG&E to meet the terms of their Lease. 

 

Commissioner Deaton asked how many at risk young adults are in the Providence program per 

year.  President Hancock answered 12 to 24 at all three of their locations.  

 

PRESENTATION AND TOUR OF MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. CENTER, CHRISTINA 

MASSEY, RECREATION COORDINATOR 
 

Christina Massey, Recreation Coordinator, provided a presentation on the programming at the 

Martin Luther King, Jr., Center (Center) and a tour of the facility.  Massey stated that the Center’s 

new Action Plan was approaching completion, recognizing Commissioner Wilson for his 

contribution.  She proudly announced they had met all the goals of the previous Action Plan and 

looked forward to implementing the new goals.  The tour commenced providing information about 

their six-day a week programming, community partners, the population served, and goals of the 

Center staff.  Massey pointed out the renovations to the facility.   

 

Commissioner Brennan asked if the neighborhood kids attended Cypress School.  Massey 

confirmed that Cypress is the Elementary School, Sequoia is the Middle School, and Shasta is the 



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 4 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

High School.  The Center has been working in partnership with Cypress School for six years to 

offer a satellite after school program at the Center and is looking to collaborate with Sequoia. 

 

Commissioner Salter asked if the Center still worked with Eagle Soar.  Massey stated that they 

have their own facility at a Methodist Church. 

 

Commissioner Resner asked if children are dropped off after school and if there is an area to get 

help with their homework.  Massey confirmed that after the bus drops the children off in front of 

the Center they have a snack and a 15-minute recess before starting Power Hour.  During Power 

Hour, half of the children are working on homework while the other half are on the computers or 

chrome books doing online support.  After the hour, the groups switch.  If homework is not 

completed, they can continue to get help, while others move on to activity clubs. 

 

Director Niemer provided a background of Massey’s involvement with the Center and recognized 

that with her efforts the Center has thrived.  

 

Commissioner Wilson inquired about renaming a room at the Center in honor of Isaac Lowe.  

Massey recommended the Center’s library.  Director Niemer stated they would bring the topic 

back as a recommendation at the next meeting. 

 

PRESENTATION ON REDDING AQUATIC CENTER 2015 SEASON REVIEW, JENNY 

MOORE, RECREATION SUPERVISOR 

Recreation Supervisor Jenny Moore provided a presentation on the operations of the Redding 

Aquatic Center (RAC).  A copy of the presentation is attached and incorporated herein by 

reference.  The presentation included information on the RAC's goals and objectives, client base, 

attendance in 2015, facility and party rentals, equipment and programs, and safety statistics.   

Commissioner Brennan asked if the Paddle Science Field Trip Program through schools was free 

to the children.  Moore stated that scholarship funding through the California Boating and 

Waterways grant reduced the cost for each student to five dollars. 

Commissioner Salter inquired if the new Outdoor Education Class offerings are geared toward 

schools.  Moore stated that they are currently community classes, but that the activity guides are 

delivered to every school.  The positive response to the Paddle Science Field Trip Program does 

have staff looking to develop other school-based outdoor programs.  

Commissioner Brennan asked if it had been 10 years since the remodel.  Director Niemer stated it 

had been approximately 12 to 13 years.  

Commissioner Resner asked when the RAC would need another remodel.  Director Niemer stated 

that mechanical and aesthetic repairs are completed as needed, and every few years they look to 

add a new aquatic feature. A new gate house and locker room are needed. 

Commissioner Salter asked if the RAC was closed every morning for nonpublic uses.  Moore 

clarified that the RAC is open for Water Fitness classes, Master Swim, Swim Lessons, and 



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 5 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

Preschool Splash.  Director Niemer complimented Supervisor Moore’s ability to maximize the 

RAC’s usage.  

Commissioner Salter asked about the sugar content of the new smoothies, and if the City worked 

with Healthy Shasta.  Moore confirmed their partnership with Healthy Shasta, and that they use 

Island Oasis Smoothies with 100% fruit base.  Yogurt bases are used in lieu of an ice-cream base, 

and a 100% no sugar added lemon base is used for frozen lemonades. 

Commissioner Brennan asked if prices were increased in relation to the minimum wage increase.  

Moore stated that the public swim prices did not increase, but that they would do some increases 

to other programming.   

Commissioner Wilson and Commissioner Deaton inquired about RAC staffing.  Moore stated that  

2 employees work the front counter, 4 employees work in concessions, 2 employees handle 

maintenance, and 12 lifeguards are staffed.  Additional event staff may be needed for party 

reservations.  Typically, there is a head lifeguard, three lifeguards for the 50-meter pool; five to 

six lifeguards for the activity pool; one lifeguard at the first aid station; and another lifeguard to 

cover breaks or manage Jr. Lifeguard staffing.  

Commissioner Brennan asked how new aquatics activities and classes are marketed.  Moore stated 

that in addition to the guide distribution, brochures are created.  For the Paddle Science Program, 

brochures were sent to all the schools and staff followed up with phone calls.  Once Mistletoe 

School attended, teachers shared their positive experience with other teachers. 

Commissioner Resner asked if the military training was in reference to active shooter training.  

Moore clarified that it is a military based training designed to keep heart rate levels low in stressful 

environments. 

PRESENTATION ON KIDS KINGDOM 2 INCLUSIVE PLAYGROUND, JENNY 

MOORE, RECREATION SUPERVISOR 

 

Jenny Moore, Recreation Supervisor provided a presentation on Kids Kingdom 2 in Enterprise 

Park and the City’s plan to update the play space to provide inclusive play.  A copy of the 

presentation is attached and incorporated herein by reference.  The presentation provided 

information about inclusive play, the project goals, community partners, fundraising efforts, and 

playground designs based on beginning, intermediate and advance skill levels. 

Commissioner Resner asked how the City planned to maintain the specialty components.  Director 

Niemer stated that maintenance issues were experienced in the past, but is hoping equipment has 

been updated to be more robust.   

Commissioner Brennan asked if the grant was approved and if the project was a go.  Director 

Niemer clarified that the grant funds half of the playground equipment.  The City would need to 

raise the other half of the equipment, as well as, funds for demolition, site work, and resurfacing.  

Total fundraising needed is approximated $250,000.  Pledges are at $50,000 and with offers of in-

kind labor for the demolition.  First 5 Shasta has expressed interest in helping with the swing and 



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 6 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

a train feature.  The City will reach out to other organizations and businesses in the community for 

large donations, and will have a community fundraising component, similar to the mural 

fundraising held for the Fantasy Fountain re-construction. 

Commissioner Salter asked if the playground would be grey as pictured in the presentation.  

Commissioner Resner asked if color effected the inclusive play aspect.  Moore confirmed that 

varieties of colors are offered, and that the structure would not be grey.  The City will be guided 

through the color selection process, as it does effect sensory play.  

PRESENTATION OF 2015 COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS 
 

Director Niemer stated that in 2003 they conducted a survey when developing the Parks Master 

Plan and it proved to be a good tool.  They have refreshed the results by contracting with National 

Research Center (NRC). 

Commissioner Brennan and Wilson expressed concern over the number of surveys mailed and 

returned.  Director Niemer confirmed that NRC determined that was the correct sample size given 

our population to be scientifically sound.  She encouraged Commissioners to research NRC, as 

they are the premier community survey-consulting firm. 

Director Niemer expressed that the survey contained more information than the last survey, 

including questions regarding the library.   

Director Niemer went on to highlight the following survey results: 

Directing attention to Page 8, Director Niemer discussed the high number of people utilizing the 

trails including the high number of frequent users.  Caldwell and Lake Redding Parks’ numbers 

displayed strong usage.  Caldwell Park’s usage is not surprising given that it is the only park with 

lit fields.  Moving forward, Director Niemer will look at adding lights to Enterprise Park’s upper 

fields.  With the addition of lights at Enterprise Park, the usage is expected to increase two to three 

times.   

Commissioner Salter commented that she was surprised by the Enterprise Park usage in 

comparison to Caldwell Park.  Director Niemer contributed the increase usage to Recreation 

programming, the Redding Aquatic Center usage, and access to the Sacramento River Trail. 

Commissioner Salter was surprised to see the number of respondents that had never utilized the 

park or trails.  Director Niemer stated that it could be attributed to some of the comments  for 

example, several stated they did not have children at home, or that they were elderly.  

Commissioner Resner referenced page 27 and the high percentage of double income no children 

or people that are single.  Commissioner Resner eluded that people in those demographics may 

not use the park or utilize it the same as someone with children.  

Director Niemer drew attention to page 12, and the results of the funding priorities for Parks and 

Recreation spending, with trails, playgrounds, open space areas, and shade listed as top priorities.  

However, page 13 confirmed that residents are not willing to pay more in taxes.  



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 7 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

Page 15, listed that the number one priority for biking is to improve safety.  Commissioner Resner 

complimented the bikeways in Montana, which have a 6ft. shoulder before the bike lane, but also 

noted the amount of open space available.  

Page 25 confirmed that people prefer to get their information from the Recreation Guide.  Director 

Niemer reported that 20,000 - 30,000 guides are produced depending on the season and distributed 

to local Kindergarten through 8th grade schools, as well as local businesses.  The Recreation 

website is also updated regularly, with online registration available for the growing demand.  

Appendix C on page 50 proved that the issue of homelessness is on people’s minds.  There is a 

perception that the trails are unsafe, however 91% of people are utilizing the trails.  Director 

Niemer expressed efforts to improve safety.  Staff and volunteers have been clearing a lot of the 

bush and vegetation that people present from not being able to see through or around.  Director 

Niemer also stated that they are looking into bringing back bike patrols.  

Commissioner Brennan asked what can be done about people that are camping in the parks.  

Director Niemer reported that the Redding Police Department has updated their website and 

reports can be submitted through the website.  Officer Bob Brennan has been working diligently 

to respond to the reports within a day or two.  Manager Whelen also stated that reports could be 

made through Code Enforcement.  

Commissioner Resner stated that she uses the Sacramento River Trail on a regular basis and stated 

that she doesn’t run on the trails alone. 

Director Niemer ended her highlights by referencing positive comments listed on page 53, such 

as, “Love the easy accessibility of the hiking trails around Redding!!”  The survey will be used to 

help develop the updated Parks Master Plan.  

Commissioner Resner stated that she thought it was great that the trails were highlighted as a 

priority. 

In reference to the favorable results to the Open Space Areas, Commissioner Deaton asked how 

the Commission could encourage the City to start working on a River Corridor.  Director Niemer 

stated that because it would go well beyond City property, it would be a multi-jurisdictional effort.  

BLM, Forest Services, among others would be involved.  Existing staffing resources cannot 

complete the project.  Niemer believes the City would need a consultant like Terry Hanson.   

Commissioner Salter expressed the importance of getting the consultant funded to proceed with a 

River Parkway Plan. 

Director Niemer agreed that a River Parkway Plan is important, and that the City would be a player 

in a bigger effort.  Director Niemer emphasized the importance of re-zoning the special interest 

areas that have been identified as having natural resource values.  This would ensure that those 

properties not only have challenges to development but also have legal restrictions.   

Commissioner Salter posed that the Commission formally request that the proceeds from the sale 

of the Henderson Open Space Area parcels be used to fund Henderson Open Space improvements.  



  
 

Community Services Advisory Commission  Page 8 

Minutes from the special meeting held February 10, 2016 

 

A conversation among commissioners commenced, and they decided to direct the Chair to draft a 

letter to City Council for review at the next meeting.  

Commissioner Brennan requested an update on the Henderson Open Space Area.  Director Niemer 

and Terry Hanson submitted a redesign of the parking area as a scope change to the Resource 

Agency.  A meeting to go over the initial feedback from the redesign with California and Boating 

Waterways is pending.  

DISCUSSION OF COMMISSIONER ASSIGNMENTS 
 

Commissioner Salter asked Commissioner Resner to take on the Redding Soccer Park obligations.  

Commissioner Resner agreed. 

Commissioner Wilson asked for clarity on the Commissions’ Parks Master Plan involvement in 

comparison to Commissioner Brennan’s involvement.  Director Niemer stated that Commissioner 

Brennan was invited to be a part of a focus group, but that the Commission would receive the Parks 

Master Plan drafts at the same time. 

PROJECT UPDATES 
 

Director Niemer updated the Commission on the following projects: 

 

Feral Cats - The issue of feral cats has been brought to the forefront.  The City has been working 

toward reducing the cat population. Turtle Bay has allowed a cat feeder to be relocated closer to 

the trail, which has upset the Audubon Society and others.  A public meeting has been scheduled 

for, Tuesday, February 23, and will be led by Mark Storrey, CEO at Haven Humane Society. 

 

Oregon Gulch - City volunteer Francis Berg is helping develop a recreation plan for the area.  Staff 

is looking at adjacent parcels that will add value to the project.  Grant results will be determined 

in May.  

 

City Council - At the meeting scheduled next Tuesday, City Council will be covering mid-year 

budget resolutions.  Community Services has two items, including Redding Aquatic Center repairs 

and increased personnel costs incurred from the increase in minimum wage and the 

implementation of the Affordable Care Act.  The McConnell Foundation agreement to fund the 

Freedom Festival show will also be presented.  

 

Turtle Bay - The maintenance agreement for the Sundial Bridge is up, and is currently under review 

for renewal. 

 

Director Niemer reintroduced Parks and Facilities Manager Adam Whelen and Parks 

Superintendent Joey Forseth-Deshais to the Commission members that were absent at the last 

introduction.   

 




